
 
THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA 
WESTERN DIVISION 

CASE NO. 5:14-CV00076-FL 
 

__________________________________________ 
HOMETOWN PUBLISHING, LLC, a New  ) 
Jersey limited liability company  ) 
       )  
 Plaintiff,  ) MOTION TO DISMISS 
  ) Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (b)(6)  
v.  )  

)  
KIDSVILLE NEWS! INC., a North Carolina ) 
Corporation,  ) 
  ) 
 Defendant.  ) 
_________________________________________ ) 

 
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO STATE A 
CLAIM ON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED 

 
 Defendant Kidsville News, Inc. (“Kidsville”), by its undersigned attorneys, files this 

Memorandum In Support of Its Motion To Dismiss the Complaint filed by Plaintiff Hometown 

Publishing, LLC (“Hometown”) pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6).   

I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Hometown and Kidsville are parties to a Publisher License Agreement (the “License 

Agreement”), under which Hometown was granted a non-exclusive license to use Kidsville’s 

Trademarks in connection with the publishing and advertisement of a custom publication in a 

specific geographic territory.  (Compl. at ¶ 17).1  Hometown’s two-count Complaint alleges that 

the License Agreement created a franchise and that Kidsville should be held liable for two 

claims: (1) an alleged violation of the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act, 

N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 75-1, et seq. (Count I); and (2) fraud by omission (Count II).   Both counts 
                                                 
1 All citations to the Complaint are designated herein as “Compl. at ¶ __.” 
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rest solely on a single alleged violation of the Federal Franchise Rule, 16 C.F.R. § 436, et seq. 

(“Federal Franchise Rule 436”), which Hometown contends required Kidsville to make certain 

unspecified disclosures at or before the time the License Agreement was executed.  (Compl. at ¶ 

12). 

Hometown’s assertion that the License Agreement conveyed a franchise and was 

otherwise governed by Federal Franchise Rule 436 is without merit.  For the purposes of the 

instant Motion To Dismiss, however, even if the relationship between Kidsville and Hometown 

could be considered a franchise, Hometown’s Complaint must be dismissed under Federal Rule 

of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim on which relief can be granted. 

First, Hometown’s claim of fraud by omission (Count II) is time-barred by the three-year 

statute of limitations applicable to fraud claims in North Carolina.  Because the fraud alleged by 

Hometown is the failure to comply with Federal Franchise Rule 436’s disclosure requirements 

prior to execution of the License Agreement (which Hometown contends occurred on May 3, 

2010), the three-year statute of limitations ran no later than May 3, 2013.  It is undisputed that 

this Complaint was not filed until February 11, 2014, which makes clear that the fraud claim is 

untimely and Count II must be dismissed. 

Second, Hometown’s claim of fraud by omission also should be dismissed because 

Hometown failed to plead fraud with specificity, as required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

9(b).  Indeed, Hometown has failed to allege facts that would support a claim of fraud by 

omission and has instead parroted legal conclusions.  Among other things, Hometown failed to 

allege a single material fact that was withheld before the License Agreement was executed and 

therefore it also failed to plead facts that would support its bald contention that it would not have 
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entered into the License Agreement but for the omission.  Compl. at ¶34.  Thus, Count II should 

also be dismissed on that basis. 

Third,  Hometown’s claim under the North Carolina Unfair & Deceptive Trade Practices 

Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 75-1, et seq. (“UTPA”), must be dismissed because Hometown—a New 

Jersey LLC—has not alleged (nor can it allege) that Kidsville’s so-called deceptive trade action 

had a “substantial detrimental impact” on Hometown’s North Carolina business operations.  

Under well-settled case law, if the alleged actions did not have a substantial effect on the 

plaintiff’s North Carolina business operations, the UTPA claim cannot survive.  In this case,  

Hometown has not even alleged that it conducts any business operations in North Carolina, so 

Kidsville’s purported conduct could not have had any effect (much less have had a substantial 

effect) on Hometown’s North Carolina business activities.   

For all of these reasons, and as further explained below, both counts in Hometown’s 

Complaint should be dismissed with prejudice. 

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Plaintiff Hometown is a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of the 

State of New Jersey that has its principal place of business in the State of New Jersey.  (Compl. 

at ¶ 2.)  Defendant Kidsville is a North Carolina corporation.  (Compl. at ¶ 3.)  The License 

Agreement, which Hometown alleges was executed on May 3, 2010 (Compl. at ¶ 6), gave 

Hometown “a non-exclusive, non-transferrable license to use the Trademarks in connection with 

publishing the Custom Publication in the Territory, and advertising thereof.”  (Compl. at ¶ 17; 

License Agreement, ¶ 2.1).  That License Agreement defines the term “Territory” as certain 

counties in New Jersey.2   

                                                 
2 Kidsville may reference the License Agreement in this motion without converting it to one for summary judgment 
because the License Agreement is “a document integral to or explicitly relied upon in the complaint.”  See, e.g., In 
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III. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

When considering a motion to dismiss, this Court “must accept as true all well-pleaded 

allegations and view the complaint in the light most favorable to” the plaintiff.  Hatfill v. New 

York Times Co., 416 F.3d 320, 329 (4th Cir. 2005).  This Court, however, is “not bound to accept 

as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation.”  A Society Without a Name v. 

Virginia, 655 F.3d 342, 346 (4th Cir. 2011) (citation omitted). 

Furthermore, a complaint must plead “more than an unadorned, the-defendant-

unlawfully-harmed-me accusation,” but instead “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted 

as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.’”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 

678 (2009) (citing Bell Atlantic v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)).  Under the standard 

articulated in Twombly, a complaint need not contain “detailed factual allegations,” but it must 

contain “more than labels and conclusions” or a “formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause 

of action.”  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555.  Applying this standard to Hometown’s Complaint 

compels dismissal of both Counts. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A.  Hometown’s Claim For Fraud By Omission Is Time-Barred 
 

Hometown’s claim for fraud by omission (Count II) must be dismissed because it was 

filed nearly a year after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations.   Critically, “[a]s a 

matter of well-settled North Carolina law, claims sounding in fraud must be brought within three 

years of discovery of the facts constituting the fraud or negligence.”  Landmar, LLC v. Wells 

Fargo Bank, N.A., No. 5:11-cv-00097, 2013 WL 5674880, at *6 (W.D.N.C. Oct. 17, 2013) 

(unpublished) (citing Carlisle v. Keith, 169 N.C. App. 674, 683, 614 S.E.2d 542, 548 (2005)), 

                                                                                                                                                             
re Burlington Coat Factory Securities Litigation, 114 F.3d 1410, 1426 (3d Cir. 1997) (Alito, J.); Shaw v. Digital 
Equipment Corp., 82 F.3d. 1194, 1220 (1st Cir. 1996) (same).   
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attached hereto as Exhibit 1; see also N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-52(9).  In other words, a claim for fraud 

“must be brought within three years of the time [a plaintiff] knew or reasonably should have 

known of the facts giving rise to the fraud and misrepresentation.”  Sayman v. Lehman Bros FSB, 

No. 3:13-CV-288-RJC-DSC, 2014 WL 538788, at *2 (W.D.N.C. Feb. 11, 2014) (unpublished), 

attached hereto as Exhibit 2.  Even more, “[w]here a person is aware of the facts and 

circumstances which, in the exercise of due care, would enable him or her to learn of or discover 

the fraud, the fraud is discovered for the purposes of the statute of limitations.”  Id. (citing 

Jennings v. Lindsey, 69 N.C. App. 710, 715, 318 S.E.2d 318, 321 (1984)). 

The single omission by Kidsville that serves as the predicate for Hometown’s fraud claim 

is Kidsville’s failure to provide the disclosure document that Hometown asserts was required 

under Federal Franchise Rule 436.  Specifically, Hometown alleges the following: “in several 

communications preceding the parties’ execution of the Agreement, [Kidsville] omitted material 

representations of fact, which it had a duty to disclose pursuant to the Federal Franchise Rule” 

(Compl. at ¶ 29) (emphasis added); “Plaintiff heard such representations, minus the material 

facts omitted, prior to the signing of the Agreement” (Id. at ¶ 33) (emphasis added); “Plaintiff 

justifiably relied on the aforementioned representations and statements therein, minus the 

material omissions, in deciding to enter into the Agreement” (Id.) (emphasis added); and “[b]ut 

for [Kidsville]’s fraudulent actions, Plaintiff would not have entered into the Agreement with 

[Kidsville].”  (Id. at ¶ 34).  Hometown makes no allegation of any act or omission on the part of 

Kidsville, improper or otherwise, that occurred after the alleged date that the License Agreement 

was consummated on May 3, 2010, and Hometown also never asserts a single affirmatively false 

statement made by anyone associated with Kidsville. 
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Assuming arguendo that Federal Franchise Rule 436 applied to the relationship between 

Kidsville and Hometown, that rule requires a franchisor to furnish a “prospective franchisee” 

with the applicable disclosures “at least 14 calendar-days before the prospective franchisee signs 

a binding agreement with, or makes payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with 

the proposed franchise sale.”  16 C.F.R. § 436.2 (a).    By the time the License Agreement was 

executed, Hometown was aware of (1) the terms of that License Agreement, and (2) Kidsville’s 

failure to provide a disclosure document under the Franchise Rule.  Thus, by May 3, 2010, 

Hometown either “knew or, by due diligence, should have known of the facts constituting the 

basis for its claim.”  Pittman v. Barker, 117 N.C. App. 580, 591, 452 S.E.2d 326, 332 (1995) 

(quoting Hiatt v. Burlington Industries, Inc., 55 N.C. App. 523, 286 S.E.2d 566, disc. review 

denied, 305 N.C. 395, 290 S.E.2d 365 (1982)).   

As a general matter, Hometown’s failure to understand the legal significance of an event 

(in this case, the alleged failure to disclose) is not sufficient to toll the statute of limitations.  See 

Faircloth v. National Home Loan Corp., 313 F. Supp. 2d 544, 553 (M.D.N.C. 2003) (“the 

running of the statute of limitations for the plaintiff’s cause of action [for usury] began at the 

loan closing because the alleged wrong was not of a type that could become known only after a 

passage of time and because the alleged wrong, though continuing, arose from one unitary 

action”); see also Miller v. Pacific Shore Funding, 92 F. App’x 933, 935 (4th Cir. 2004) (citing 

Miller v. Pacific Shore Funding, 224 F. Supp. 2d 977, 986) (“[k]nowledge of facts, . . . not actual 

knowledge of their legal significance, starts the statute of limitations running”) (interpreting the 

Maryland discovery rule).   

Because there is no private cause of action allowed under the Federal Franchise Rule, 

Morrison v. Back Yard Burgers, Inc., 91 F.3d 1184, 1187 (8th Cir. 1996), there are no authorities 

Case 5:14-cv-00076-FL   Document 7   Filed 03/11/14   Page 6 of 18



7 
2775398 v.2 

 

that specifically address when a cause of action would accrue for a violation of the Rule’s 

disclosure requirements.  However, numerous states have adopted their own franchise laws 

although, notably, neither North Carolina (the home state of Kidsville) nor New Jersey (the home 

state of Hometown) has adopted its own state franchise laws to govern the relationship between 

the parties.  States that have adopted franchise laws have often mandated certain disclosures by 

the franchisor—similar to those required under Federal Franchise Rule 436—prior to the 

execution of the franchise documents.  And, in general, when evaluating franchisee claims based 

on noncompliance with the statutory disclosure and offering requirements, the Courts have held 

that the statute of limitations begins to run on the date that the franchisor should have made the 

disclosures and not at the time the plaintiff franchisee realized that disclosures were legally 

required and not made.  See, e.g., Powell v. Coffee Beanery, Ltd., 932 F. Supp. 985, 987 (E.D. 

Mich. 1996); see also Randall v. Lady of America Franchise Corp., 532 F. Supp. 2d 1071 (D. 

Minn. 2007).   

In Powell, for example, the plaintiff claimed that the defendant had failed to provide a 

copy of a required offering circular within the timeframe required by the California Franchise 

Investment Law, Cal. Corp. Code § 31119.  Powell, 932 F. Supp. at 986.  The applicable 

California franchise law statute of limitations provided that a cause of action had to be filed 

“within the expiration of one year after the discovery of the plaintiff of the fact constituting the 

violation.”  Id. at 987.  Although the plaintiff had filed suit more than a year after the date that 

the offering circular was required, he argued that the act’s discovery rule meant that the statute of 

limitations did not begin to run until after he obtained advice from counsel advising him that the 

circular was required.  Id.  The Court rejected the franchisee’s argument and held the claims 

were time barred based on “‘the well-established rule that ignorance of the legal significance of 
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known facts [does] not delay the running of the statute [of limitations] . . . .’”  Id. (quoting Jolly v 

Eli Lilly & Co., 751 P.2d 923 (Cal. 1988) (en banc)).   

Similarly, in Randall, the plaintiffs asserted claims under Minnesota and Florida law, 

including allegations that the franchisor had violated Florida’s unfair and deceptive trade 

practices act, based in part on the defendant’s alleged failure to comply with Federal Franchise 

Disclosure Rule 436.  Randall, 532 F. Supp. 2d at 1095–96.  Like Hometown, the Randall 

plaintiffs argued that violations of the Franchise Rule constituted violations of Florida’s unfair 

and deceptive trade practices act, which outlaws “unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the 

conduct of any trade or commerce” pursuant to Fla. Stat. Ann. § 501.204(1).3  The court, 

however, dismissed the claims filed beyond the contract’s two-year statute of limitations, holding 

that the Franchise Rule was violated at the time that the franchisor allegedly failed to make 

required disclosures or when it made incomplete disclosures, and that the franchisee’s claims 

were not saved by the discovery rule.  Id. at 1097 (citing 16 C.F.R. § 436.1(b)).  As the court 

explained, “[i]f Lady of America violated the Franchise Rule through nondisclosure or 

misdisclosure, this violation was necessarily apparent to the plaintiffs before they signed their 

franchise agreements.”  Id. 

Similarly, in Zaro Licensing, Inc. v. Cinmar, Inc., 779 F. Supp. 276, 287 (S.D.N.Y 1991), 

the plaintiffs asserted that they had been defrauded into purchasing unregistered franchises in 

Connecticut, New Jersey, and New York.  The defendant moved to dismiss several of those 

claims on the grounds that they were barred by the applicable statute of limitations.  The United 

States District Court for the Southern District of New York granted the defendant’s motion to 

dismiss both the New York franchise claim, filed under the New York State General Business 
                                                 
3 Florida’s unfair and deceptive trade practices act expressly states that “due consideration and great weight shall be 
given to the interpretations of the Federal Trade Commission . . . relating to [section] 5(a)(1) of the Federal Trade 
Commission Act.”  Fla. Stat. Ann. § 501.204(2). 
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Law, as well as the claim under the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act, holding that those 

claims were filed beyond the applicable statute of limitations.  Id.  In particular, the court 

rejected the plaintiffs’ argument that the statute of limitations should be tolled as a result of the 

franchisor’s failure to subsequently provide the offering circular, holding that the failure to 

disclose was not a “continuing violation that tolled the statute of limitations.”  Id.; see also 

United Magazine Co. v. Murdoch Magazines Distribution, Inc., 146 F. Supp. 2d 385, 406–07 

(S.D.N.Y. 2001) (the statute of limitations on plaintiff’s claims that an oral agreement created a 

franchise that failed to comply with the New York Franchise Sales Act began to run when the 

franchise contract is entered into and was not tolled by continuous violations or by changes to the 

original franchise agreement); Stocco v. Gemological Inst. of Am., Inc., No. 12-CV-1291, 2013 

WL 76220, at *11 (S.D. Cal. Sept. 24, 2013) (unpublished) (statute of limitations on claim that a 

franchise agreement failed to comply with the disclosure provisions of California Franchise 

Investment Law, Cal. Corp. Code § 31119, began to run on date that franchise agreement was 

signed), attached hereto as Exhibit 3.  But see 6100 Cleveland, Inc. v. Staff Builders Int’l, Inc., 

127 F. Supp. 2d 877, 884–85 (N.D. Ohio 1999) (citing RY/EH, Inc. v. Arthur Treachers, Inc., 

685 N.E.2d 316, 318 (Ct. App. Ohio 1996) and Zaro Licensing, 779 F. Supp. at 287 (reaching 

different conclusions on claims brought under Ohio and New York laws; holding that Ohio 

claims were not time barred because the failure to make disclosures was a continuing violation 

under applicable Ohio precedent but that the New York claims were time barred because the 

failure to make the required disclosures under New York law began to run on the date the parties 

executed the franchise agreement and the disclosures should have been made).   

Indeed, to hold that the statute of limitation does not begin to run until the franchisee 

learns that disclosures were legally required, would encourage ignorance of the law and reward 
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lack of diligence.  Additionally, under such a holding, franchisees theoretically could operate a 

franchise for 50 years before filing suit to challenge a failure to make disclosures at the time the 

franchise agreement was signed.  Here, it is neither unreasonable nor unfair to have required 

Hometown to file suit on its fraud claim within three years. 

In sum, Hometown’s claim for fraud by omission accrued on or before May 3, 2010, the 

date the alleged franchise agreement was signed.  Thus, Hometown’s fraud claim, filed more 

than nine months after the statute of limitations ran, must be dismissed. 

B. Hometown Has Failed To Plead The Essential Elements Of A Claim For Fraud 
By Omission 

 
In addition, Hometown has failed to plead a cause of action for alleged fraud by 

omission.  “To state a claim for fraud, [a plaintiff] must show:  (1) a false representation or 

concealment of material fact, (2) reasonably calculated to deceive, (3) made with the intent to 

deceive, (4) that does in fact deceive, and (5) results in damage to [the plaintiff].”  Harrold v. 

Dowd, 149 N.C. App. 777, 782, 561 S.E.2d 914, 918 (2002) (citing Ragsdale v. Kennedy, 286 

N.C. 130, 138, 208 S.E.2d 494, 500 (1974)).  Further, if the fraud claim is an allegation of fraud 

by omission, the plaintiff must also establish that the defendant concealed one or more material 

facts and that there was a duty to disclose the facts concealed.  Griffin v. Wheeler-Leonard & 

Co., 290 N.C. 185, 198, 225 S.E.2d 557, 565 (1976). 

Specifically, in order to assert a claim for fraud by omission, and in addition to alleging 

the five elements of any ordinary fraud claim, a plaintiff must allege: “(1) the relationship 

[between plaintiff and defendant] giving rise to the duty to speak; (2) the event that triggered the 

duty to speak or the general time period over which the relationship arose and the fraud occurred; 

(3) the general content of the information that was withheld and the reason for its materiality; (4) 

the identity of those under a duty who failed to make such disclosures; (5) what the defendant 
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gained from withholding the information; (6) why the plaintiff's reliance on the omission was 

reasonable and detrimental; and (7) the damages the fraud caused the plaintiff.”  Metropolitan 

Group, Inc. v. Meridian Industries, Inc., 869 F. Supp. 2d 692, 704 (W.D.N.C. 2012) (citing 

Breeden v. Richmond Community College, 171 F.R.D. 189, 195 (M.D.N.C. 1997)).  Accordingly, 

“fraud by omission is, by its very nature, difficult to plead with particularity” under Rule 9(b).  

Lawrence v. UMLIC-FIVE Corp., No. 06-CVS-20643, 2007 WL 2570256, at *4 (N.C. Super. 

2007) (unpublished) (quoting Breeden, 171 F.R.D. at 195), attached hereto as Exhibit 4; cf. 

Howard v. Carroll Companies, Inc., No. 1:12CV146, 2013 WL 3791619, at *11 (M.D.N.C. Jul. 

19, 2013) (unpublished) (where fiduciary relationship exists, court may dispense with 

requirement that the plaintiff plead actual dishonesty or intent to deceive in a cause of action for 

fraud by omission because intent may be presumed), attached hereto as Exhibit 5.  However, 

even though the essence of fraud by omission “consists of non-action, there are specific factors a 

plaintiff can use to find when, where, how, and what duty was created and then those factors 

must be stated with particularity to fairly apprise the defendant of the charges.”  Bear Hollow, 

LLC v. Moberk, LLC, No. 5:05CV210, 2006 WL 1642126, at *5 (W.D.N.C. June 5, 2006) 

(unpublished), attached hereto as Exhibit 6.    

 “The standard set forth by Rule 9(b) aims to provide defendants with fair notice of 

claims against them and the factual ground upon which they are based, forestall frivolous suits, 

prevent fraud actions in which all the facts are learned only following discovery, and protect 

defendants’ goodwill and reputation.”  McCauley v. Home Loan Inv. Bank, F.S.B., 710 F.3d 551, 

559 (4th Cir. 2013) (internal citations omitted).  Hometown has failed to allege at least four of 

the elements necessary to state a cause of action for fraud by omission, all of which flow from 

the fact that Hometown has not identified a single material fact that was withheld by Kidsville.  
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Hometown’s failure to identify a material fact that was withheld from it also conveys that it did 

not (and cannot) allege that Hometown relied on that omission to its detriment, that Hometown 

reasonably would have declined to enter into the License Agreement had it known the truth of 

the fact or facts withheld, and that Hometown cannot identify the damages that it claims were 

caused as a result of the failure to provide the information withheld.   

The only affirmative facts recited in the Complaint are that: (1) [Hometown] is a limited 

liability company organized under the laws of the State of New Jersey, with its principal place of 

business in the State of New Jersey (Compl. at ¶ 2); and (2) on or about May 3, 2010, Plaintiff 

and Defendant entered into a Publisher License Agreement (Compl. at ¶ 6) that had, among its 

provisions, those recited by Hometown in its Complaint.  The essential elements of Hometown’s 

claim for fraud by omission, including the content and materiality of the information allegedly 

withheld, and why Hometown’s reliance on same was reasonable and detrimental, are precisely 

the kind of conclusory allegations that Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) is aimed to prevent.4 

Because Hometown has not pled its claim for fraud by omission with the requisite 

sufficient particularity, but has merely “parroted a legal conclusion” that “but for [Kidsville]’s 

fraudulent actions, Hometown would not have entered into the Agreement with [Kidsville],” 

(Compl. at ¶ 34) its claim for fraud by omission fails and Count II of the Complaint must be 

dismissed.   Metropolitan, 869 F. Supp. 2d at 704.   

C. Hometown’s Count I For “Violation of the North Carolina Unfair And 
Deceptive Trade Practices Act” Fails to State a Claim for Which Relief Can Be 
Granted 
 

                                                 
4 Hometown’s inability to identify a single material fact that was withheld suggests that no specific information was 
withheld from Hometown which reasonably would have adversely affected Hometown’s decision to enter into the 
License Agreement and that, instead, Hometown filed its fraud claim with the hope that it might identify such 
information during discovery.  That kind of fishing expedition will not be countenanced.  See Migdal v. Rowe Price-
Fleming International, 248 F.3d 321, 326 (4th Cir. 2001) (“Conclusory allegations in a complaint, if they stand 
alone, are a danger sign that the plaintiff is engaged in a fishing expedition.”) (citation omitted); see also McCauley 
supra, 710 F.3d at 559. 
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Similarly, Hometown has no cause of action against Kidsville under the North Carolina 

Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act  (“UTPA”), N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 75-1, et seq., and 

therefore Count I must be dismissed as a matter of law.   

In order to state a claim under the North Carolina UTPA, a plaintiff must allege “(1) that 

defendant committed unfair or deceptive acts, (2) that defendant’s action was in or affecting 

commerce, and (3) that the act proximately caused injury to the plaintiff.”  Eli Research, Inc. v. 

United Communications Grp., LLC,  312 F. Supp. 2d 748, 757 (M.D.N.C. 2004) (citing Dalton 

v. Camp, 548, S.E. 704, 711 (N.C. 2001)).  Courts interpreting these UTPA elements clarify that 

an alleged unfair and deceptive trade practice (in this case, Kidsville’s alleged failure to make 

franchise disclosures) is actionable if the conduct has a substantial detrimental impact on the 

plaintiff’s North Carolina operations.  See The ‘In’ Porters, S.A. v. Hanes Printables, Inc., 693 F. 

Supp. 494, 501–02 (M.D.N.C. 1987) (alleged wrongful conduct must have a “substantial effect 

on a plaintiff’s in-state business operations in North Carolina [because such a result] comports 

with the notion of fairness under the due process clause”); Dixie Yarns, Inc. v. Plantation 

Knights, Inc.,  1994 WL 910955, at *3 (W.D.N.C. Jul. 12, 1994) (unpublished) (same) (quoting 

‘In’ Porters, 693 F. Supp. at 501–02), attached hereto as Exhibit 7; see also Duke Energy 

International, LLC v. Napoli, 748 F. Supp. 2d 656, 676–77 (S.D. Tex. 2010) (“considering  

Federal Due Process and Commerce Clause concerns, courts limit the scope of the NCUTPA to 

cases where the allegedly wrongful conduct caused a ‘substantial effect on a plaintiff’s in state 

business operation.’”); Bondi v. Bank of Am. Corp, 383 F. Supp. 2d 587, 601 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) 

(“the overwhelming majority of federal district courts to consider [this issue], most of which are 

in North Carolina, have limited [the UTPA’s] application to cases involving substantial effect on 

a plaintiff’s in-state business operation”); and In re Genetically Modified Rice Litigation, 666 F. 
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Supp. 2d 1004 (E.D. Mo. 2009) (“The majority of cases support [defendant’s] view that the 

[UTPA] only applies if a plaintiff can show that the alleged violation had a ‘substantial effect on 

a plaintiff’s in-state business operations.’”) (internal citations omitted).5   

Here, the New Jersey-based plaintiff Hometown has not alleged—nor could it allege—

that Kidsville’s failure to make franchise disclosures had even the slightest impact on any 

business done by Hometown in North Carolina.  The Complaint alleges that Hometown is 

“organized under the laws of the State of New Jersey, with a principal place of business in the 

State of New Jersey.”  (Compl. at ¶ 2).  It then goes on to flatly allege – without any further 

explanation – that “Plaintiff and Defendant have both engaged in purposeful activity within 

Fayetteville, North Carolina” (Id. ¶ 4) and that “all or a substantial portion of the events that gave 

rise to Plaintiff’s claims transpired within Fayetteville, North Carolina.”  (Id. ¶ 5).  The 

Complaint further alleges the governing License Agreement granted Hometown “a non-

exclusive, nontransferable license to use the Trademarks in connection with publishing the 

Custom publication in the Territory . . . .” (Id. at ¶ 6).  Importantly, the Territory was in New 

Jersey—not North Carolina.  

Those bald allegations fail to reference any business operations conducted by Hometown 

in the State of North Carolina.  Instead, the allegations point to New Jersey—where Hometown 

is organized and conducts its business, and where the “Territory” of the Agreement is staked out.   

The euphemistic averment that Hometown “engaged in purposeful activity within Fayetteville 

North Carolina” is not the same thing as an allegation that Hometown had instate business 
                                                 
5 Perhaps Hometown did not try to assert a claim under its own state’s unfair and deceptive trade practices act 
because the New Jersey Fraud Act, N.J.S.A. 56:8-1, et seq., “does not apply to the sale of a franchise.”   Christy v. 
We The People Forms and Service Centers, USA, Inc., 213 F.R.D. 235, 240 (D.N.J. 2003); see also J & R Ice Cream 
Corp. v. California Smoothie Licensing Corp., 31 F.3d 1259, 1270–74 (3d Cir. 1994) (“franchises are not covered 
by the [New Jersey] Consumer Fraud Act because they are businesses, not consumer goods or services,” while the 
Consumer Fraud Act is aimed to curtail “sharp practices and dealings . . . whereby the consumer could be victimized 
by being lured into a purchase by fraudulent, deceptive, or other similar kind[s] of selling or advertising practices”) 
(citing Daaleman v. Elizabethtown Gas Co., 390 A.2d 566, 569 (Sup. Ct. N.J. 1978)).   
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operations there.  The same is true for Hometown’s averment that the events giving rise to the 

Complaint “transpired” in Fayetteville.  Rather, these allegations point to the fact that 

Kidsville—and not Hometown—was operating in North Carolina.   Thus, Hometown does not 

point to a single event, act, or harm to Hometown or to North Carolina citizens that occurred in 

this State.   In the absence of such crucial allegations, Count I fails as a matter of law.   

The importance of Hometown’s omission cannot be overstated.  “[T]he fundamental 

purpose of the [North Carolina] UTPA is to protect the consumer.”  Duke, 748 F. Supp. 2d at 

676.  It is for this reason that “the overwhelming majority of federal district courts to consider 

[the scope of the North Carolina UTPA], most of which are in North Carolina, have limited 

Section 75-1.1’s application to cases involving substantial effect on a plaintiff’s in-state business 

operation.”  Id. (quoting Bondi, 383 F. Supp. 2d at 601).6   This pleading requirement is of such 

importance that federal courts sitting in North Carolina have found it to be “required by the 

commerce clause.”  ‘In’ Porters, 663 F. Supp. at 502; see also ITCO Corp. v. Michelin Tire 

Corp., 722 F.2d 42, 48, n.9 (4th Cir. 1983) (there is no cause for “constitutional concern” with 

the North Carolina UTPA because it is specifically “designed to address primarily local 

concerns”). 

                                                 
6 The Bondi case  noted that the court in Hardee’s Food Systems, Inc. v. Beardmore, No. 5:96-CV-508-BR(2), 1997 
WL 33825259 (E.D.N.C. June 6, 1997) (unpublished), sustained a claim under the UTPA brought by an out-of-state 
licensee of a fast food franchise against an in-state licensor.  A copy of the court’s decision in Hardee’s is attached 
hereto as Exhibit 8.  Hardee’s relied on two other District Court cases in which the plaintiffs were found to have 
adequately pled a substantial effect on their in-state business operations. See Broussard v. Meineke Discount Muffler 
Shops, Inc., 945 F. Supp. 901, 917–18 (W.D.N.C. 1996) (plaintiffs specifically alleged mismanagement of 
advertising (WAC) accounts, held in North Carolina, into which plaintiffs paid up to 12% of their gross revenue), 
rev’d on other grounds, 155 F.3d 331 (4th Cir. 1998); Jacobs v. Central Transport, Inc., 891 F. Supp. 1088, 1111 
(E.D.N.C. 1995), aff’d in relevant part, rev’d in part, 83 F.3d 415 (4th Cir. 1996) (“In a multi-state unfair trade 
practices case, the North Carolina Supreme Court would likely apply the ‘most significant relationship test’”; the 
lease agreements in this case between multiple parties in multiple states had the “most significant relationship” to 
North Carolina.”).  Similarly, the court in Ada Liss Group v. Sara Lee Corp., No. 06CV610, 2010 WL 3910433, at 
*12–13 (M.D.N.C. Apr. 27, 2010) (unpublished), declined to apply the ‘In’ Porter line of cases and instead relied on 
Hardee’s.  A copy of the court’s decision in Ada Liss is attached hereto as Exhibit 9. 
 
Respectfully, Kidsville believes the ‘In’ Porter line of cases cited in the body of this Memorandum provide a more 
thorough and correct analysis of the extra-jurisdictional reach of the UTCA than do the cases cited in this footnote.   
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Indeed, on facts much more favorable to the plaintiff than those in the instant case, the 

Duke plaintiffs’ failure to plead a substantial effect on its in-state business operations was fatal to 

their claim under the North Carolina UTPA.  In that case, the plaintiffs, while neither 

incorporated nor based in North Carolina, were direct and indirect subsidiaries of Duke Energy 

Corporation, which was based in North Carolina, though not a plaintiff in that matter.  Duke, 748 

F. Supp. 2d at 677. Although the Duke plaintiffs did in fact allege that they had suffered harm in 

North Carolina (an allegation that is notably absent from Hometown’s Complaint), the court 

determined that the Duke plaintiffs’ purchase of a power plant in North Carolina was not a 

“North Carolina harm” because the plant was purchased “for the express purpose of 

disassembling it and shipping it to Guatemala.”  Id.  The court reached this conclusion even 

though the Purchase Agreement in Duke contained a choice of law provision specifying North 

Carolina law. 

In sum, Hometown has not alleged that Kidsville’s alleged actions had any effect –much 

less the sort of substantial effect that the Courts require—on any operations by Hometown in 

North Carolina.  Similarly, Hometown has equally failed to allege that it conducts any operations 

in North Carolina, or that the alleged actions by Kidsville harmed a single North Carolina 

consumer.  “A plaintiff who does not allege a substantial effect on in-state North Carolina 

operations fails to state a claim under the NC UTPA.”  Id. at 677.   Thus, Hometown’s UTPA 

claim is fatally defective and Hometown’s Count I, alleging a violation of the North Carolina 

UTPA, should therefore be dismissed. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, Hometown’s Complaint should be dismissed for failure to 

state a claim on which relief can be granted. 
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Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
/s/ Douglas P. Jeremiah 
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Douglas P. Jeremiah 
North Carolina Bar No. 35359 
djeremiah@cgspllc.com 
Conner Gwyn Schenck PLLC 
P.O. Box 20744 
Greensboro, North Carolina 27420 
Phone: (336) 691-9222 
Facsimile: (336) 691-9259 
Local Civil Rule 83.1 counsel 
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 I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF 

DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS was served electronically in accordance with the 

local rules and was, therefore, served electronically on all parties whose attorneys have properly 

registered for such electronic service, except as otherwise noted. 

 Joshua M. Hiller 
 Hiller Law PLLC 
 1000 Centregreen Way, Suite 200 
 Cary, NC 27513 
 josh@hiller-law.com 
 
 Mario L. Herman 
 Law Offices of Mario L. Herman 
 5335 Wisconsin Ave. NW, Suite 440 
 Washington, D.C. 20015 
 mherman@franchise-law.com 
  
 Counsel for Plaintiff 
 
 
 This 11th day of March, 2014 

 
 
     /s/ Douglas P Jeremiah 

Douglas P. Jeremiah 
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